#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO - SC03-1732

RONALD MCLEAN,	OAGE NO.: 0003-1732
Appellant,	
vs.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee/	
APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON T	HE MERITS

On review from a question certified to be of great public importance by the Second District Court of Appeal in Case No. 2D02-1322

RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ. RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886 P.O. BOX 568005 ORLANDO, FL 32856-8005 (407) 841-7676

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

### **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The factual history of this case was put forth in the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in this case, McLean v. State, 854 So.2d 796 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

After a jury trial, the defendant was convicted of lewd molestation in violation of Fla. Stat. § 800.04(5), Fla. Stat. (2000). The defendant was sentenced to 30 years imprisonment and designated a sexual predator.

The crime allegedly occurred on October 19, 2000. The defendant was visiting a relative when he allegedly went into the room of J.N., an eight year old child. J.N. awoke in his room that night and the defendant stuck his finger in J.N.'s bottom. The only evidence produced at trial was the testimony of J.N. and that of the Children's Home Society worker, who testified that J.N. said the same thing to her.

The defendant did not make any incriminating statements. A medical investigation did not reveal any physical evidence of sexual abuse.

Accordingly, the only evidence against the defendant was the word of J.N. alone.

To buttress its case, the State was allowed to introduce *Williams* rule<sup>1</sup> evidence.<sup>2</sup> The State was allowed to present evidence of two prior incidents that occurred with Mr. Chambers, who was now 27 years-old. Chambers testified that when he was 12 years-old the defendant assaulted him while he was sleeping in his home. A second assault occurred under the same circumstances when Chambers was 14 years-old.

Chambers said that on one of these occasions he believed that the defendant penetrated his anus with his penis. On both of these occasions the defendant was staying as a guest overnight in the home. The defendant was convicted and appealed.

The Second District affirmed the defendant's convictions and sentence.

In so doing, the court certified the following question to be one of great public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The defendant objects to the Second District's characterization here. The collateral act evidence admitted at trial was not *Williams* Rule evidence, as defined by the historical safeguards governing its use (as imposed by this Court). The evidence was actually 90.404(2)(b) evidence, which does not contain the safeguards of *Williams* rule evidence.

importance because the rule may apply in many serious trials throughout the State:

DOES SECTION 90.404(2)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (2001), VIOLATE DUE PROCESS WHEN APPLIED IN A CASE IN WHICH IDENTITY IS NOT AN ISSUE?

The Second District noted that the only previous consideration of this rule of evidence by this Court stemmed from a divided opinion that did not address the constitutional issues presented herein. The defendant's initial brief on the merits follows.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Section 90.404(2)(b) effectively eliminates the presumption of innocence afforded anyone accused of child molestation. The Legislature's enactment of this section was only due to its abhorrence with the crime itself – not because collateral act evidence is somehow more relevant and less prejudicial to those accused of child molestation. The magnitude of the public outcry does not legitimize the evisceration of decades of jurisprudence against propensity evidence.

The defendant's right to due process of law was violated because the trial becomes fundamentally unfair. The victim's testimony is allowed to be bolstered based upon irrelevant and prejudicial evidence. The defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial was also violated because the jury only had to find that the collateral acts occurred based upon a preponderance of the evidence. The jury should have been instructed that it had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the collateral acts.

This was an ex post facto law as applied to the defendant because the

new evidentiary section changed the quantum and quality of the evidence the State was permitted to use to prove its case. The section violated the separation of powers and the trial court erred when it applied the section before it was approved by this Court.

The section violates equal protection because there is no compelling reason to treat those accused of child molestation differently than those accused of any other crime.

Lastly, even if this Court allows the section to stand, the trial court erred by not properly balancing the 90.403 factors in concluding that the evidence was admissible. The trial court's holding was too general and too conclusory to permit the introduction of this evidence. This Court should require specific findings before this evidence may be used.

# ARGUMENT I: SECTION 90.404(2)(b) VIOLATES THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER IDENTITY IS AN ISSUE AT TRIAL

"Whoever fights monsters should see to it that in the process he does not become a monster." Friedrich Nietzsche. The public crusade against child molesters should not be used to erode individual rights by increasing the government's ability to convict defendants based upon prejudicial and irrelevant evidence.

The issue of the constitutionality of a statute is reviewed de novo.

Everett v. State, 893 So.2d 1278, 1283 (Fla. 2004); Simmons v. State, 886

So.2d 399, 400 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004). The statute at issue, section

90.404(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (2001), provides that:

In a criminal case in which the defendant is charged with a crime involving

child molestation, evidence of the defendant's commission of other

crimes,

with

wrongs, or acts of child molestation is admissible, and may be considered

for its bearing on any matter that is relevant.

This section violates the due process clauses of both the United States and Florida Constitutions. In In re Amendments to the Florida Evidence Code, 825 So.2d 339 (Fla. 2002), Justice Pariente dissented from this Court's adoption of this section, in which Justices Anstead and Shaw concurred. The dissent concluded:

The majority of the Committee recommended that the Court not adopt the

amendment to section 90.404(2) based upon inherent conflicts between the

new legislation and sections 90.104(2) (the court should prevent inadmissible evidence from being suggested to the jury), 90.404(1) (character evidence is inadmissible to prove person acted in conformity

that character trait), and 90.404(2)(a) (similar fact evidence is inadmissible

when relevant only to prove bad character or propensity).

The addition of subsection (b) substantially abrogates a portion of the

Williams rule, as codified in section 90.404(2)(a), which provides for the admissibility of relevant similar fact evidence points to the commission of another crime. See Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744, 746 (Fla. 1988); see also

Charles W. Ehrhardt, *Florida Evidence*, § 404.9, at 181 (2000 ed.). This amendment to section 90.404(2) also conflicts with other cases from this Court, including <u>Heuring v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Saffor</u>

<u>V.</u>

State, 660 So.2d 668, 670-71 (Fla. 1995), which expressly addresses the

parameters of the admission of misconduct in cases involving sexual abuse.

ld. at 341-342. (footnote omitted).

These observations and arguments are on point. The Florida Statutes and jurisprudence from this Court are now inherently contradictory and internally inconsistent. A rule of evidence should not override or create an exception for another rule (and case law) that prohibits the admission of this evidence.

In a case which applies by analogy, the United States Supreme Court recently held in <u>Deck v. Missouri</u>, 2005 WL 1200394 (May 23, 2005), that the

use of leg irons during sentencing violated the due process clauses of the

Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. Each of these Amendments is violated by
the propensity evidence section at issue herein.

The high court noted that the law has long forbidden the use of leg irons. The same is true for propensity evidence. The court noted that the use of leg irons adversely affects the jury's perception of the defendant's character. This is certainly true herein.

The high court noted that the presumption of innocence is no longer a concern at sentencing, but still declared that the use of leg irons violates "a basic element of due process." The presumption of innocence certainly applies to the case at bar and this presumption and the related fairness of the fact finding process is violated by the use of propensity evidence.

Lastly, the high court ruled that the use of leg irons is inherently prejudicial and therefore the defendant did not have to demonstrate actual prejudice to make out a due process violation. The burden was on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. This is the exact case herein.

In sum, the perils of allowing bad character evidence during the guilt phase are much more grave than allowing the use of leg irons during the

sentencing phase.

Section 90.404(2)(b) effectively eviscerates the long-standing jurisprudence in the State of Florida that evidence should not be admitted at trial to prove the defendant's bad character and propensity to commit the crime at issue. The section violates the defendant's right to due process and a fair trial.

The statute seeks to *magically* declare that this evidence is now relevant, after decades of jurisprudence to the contrary. In fact, this evidence is by its very nature too prejudicial to ensure an accurate fact-finding process as opposed to its extremely weak relevance to the defendant's conduct at a later date.

The Legislature has effectively repealed the traditional notion of 404(b) evidence in child molestation cases, under the guise that molestation victims need special protection, but there was never any such protection given in the 404(b) category to begin with. The wisdom of Rule 404(b) is that the use of other crimes evidence to prove character and conduct involves the danger of too much prejudice and too much waste of time to be admissible for its slight probative value. The Florida legislature has created the opposite presumption with the statute at issue.

The fact is that the Legislature's enactment of this section was only due to its abhorrence with the crime itself – not because collateral act evidence is somehow more relevant and less prejudicial to those accused of child molestation.

The fact that child molesters may be more capable of recidivism is unpersuasive. An accused comes to court with the presumption of innocence. In fact, the defendant did not have any past convictions for child molestation. Therefore, the Legislature cannot presume that the accused is a child molester, just because he is charged with this crime. This constitutes unconstitutional bootstrapping. The statute might pass constitutional muster if the accused had actually been convicted of the collateral acts.

Absent proof of a prior conviction of child molestation, or proof that the particular defendant suffers from a psychological compulsion to molest, the statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied in the case at bar. Absent proof of either of these two factors, collateral act evidence is not somehow more relevant to those accused of child molestation.

The Second District also erred when it placed too much weight on the fact that the defendant's identity was not at issue. The fact that the defendant's identity was not at issue does not make the propensity evidence

any more probative.

This Court must analyze an unfair trial claim from the perspective of the defendant, not the government. The fact that collateral act evidence makes it easier to justify the story of a vulnerable victim is not relevant. The fact that identity is not at issue is just an artificial distinction that does nothing to lessen the due process impact on the defendant.

The prejudicial impact of the collateral act evidence is vividly apparent in this case. There was no corroborating medical or physical evidence of abuse. The defendant did not make any incriminating statements. This case was a pure credibility battle between the accused and the victim. The section at issue makes trials fundamentally unfair because the victim's testimony is allowed to be bolstered by collateral act evidence and the defendant gets no special "enhancement."

For example, the defendant is not allowed to prove his good propensities by introducing evidence of specific instances of good conduct.

Additionally, the defendant is not allowed to introduce the victim's prior sexual history, etc., due to Florida's rape shield law.<sup>3</sup> Simply, put the playing field is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The defendant acknowledges that this argument would not apply to a younger child.

not a level one.

The *Williams* rule is the gatekeeper against wrongful convictions. The section at issue has destroyed this gatekeeper by ignoring traditional notions of relevance, unfair prejudice, and the similarity requirements which safeguard against the admission of propensity evidence. The integrity of the fact-finding process has been undermined in the name of public outrage. This is not constitutionally permissible.

Jurors may not care if sufficient evidence exists to convict the defendant of the crime at issue because they feel less responsible for convicting an individual who they know has committed bad acts in the past.

Allowing this section to stand creates a slippery slope to allow such evidence in every single criminal trial. The floodgates would be open and the rate of erroneous convictions would certainly increase.

The Second District found it significant that the federal version of this statute, Federal Rule of Evidence 414, has withstood constitutional scrutiny. This fact is far from dispositive in evaluating whether the statute at issue violates the Florida Constitution's due process clause. Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution provides higher standards of protection than the United States Constitution. See Traylor v. State, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992);

Brown v. State, 484 So.2d 1324, 1328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Hlad v. State, 585 So.2d 928, 932 (Fla. 1991) (Kogan, J., dissenting).

It is also worth noting that in federal cases a full-blown evidentiary hearing is required before trial to determine the viability and credibility of the collateral acts evidence. Florida does not have this safeguard. In Florida, the evidence is allowed to come out for the first time during the trial itself.

This Court should require a mandatory pre-trial evidentiary hearing. This would also ensure that the defendant's procedural due process rights are respected. The defendant needs to be given fair notice that his trial is going to address uncharged crimes.

# ARGUMENT II: PURSUANT TO BOOKER AND BLAKELY, THE DEFENDANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL WAS VIOLATED

This argument section is essentially a sub-section of the due process section above.

The process in which the collateral acts evidence was submitted to the jury violated the defendant's right to due process and his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial based upon the United States Supreme Court's holdings in

<u>United States v. Booker</u>, 125 S.Ct. 738 (2005) and <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004).

In the case at bar, the jury was required to find based upon a mere preponderance of the evidence that the collateral acts occurred. The jury should have been instructed, based upon <u>Booker</u> and <u>Blakely</u>, that they had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the collateral acts occurred. The preponderance standard is unconstitutionally low and is in direct conflict with these two seminal decisions.

The United States Supreme Court has changed the legal landscape forever on what the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, and the principles of due process embodied therein, mean to someone who is accused of a crime.

The reason for requiring a beyond a reasonable doubt standard is that the collateral acts evidence becomes part of the State's burden of proof. The State will argue that only elements of the crime need to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. This argument is unpersuasive.

Booker expressly holds that if a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on a finding of fact, that fact, no matter how the State labels it, must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 749. This holding applies with equal force during the guilt stage.

In sum, the Sixth Amendment requires that any fact-finding done by the jury must be based on a beyond a reasonable doubt standard.

This fundamental principle was violated in the case at bar. The collateral act evidence undermined the fundamental fairness of the trial because the jury was allowed to find guilt based upon findings of fact it made on a standard lower than beyond a reasonable doubt. Again, it does not matter that the collateral acts evidence was not part of the elements of the crime. The collateral acts evidence became a defacto part of the State's burden of proof when the State introduced it into evidence.

Booker does reemphasize the holding of Apprendi<sup>4</sup> that the fact of a prior conviction for purposes of determining the length of the sentence does not need to be submitted to the jury to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. This holding is due to the fact that the defendant's past has nothing to do with fact-finding in the guilt stage. This is not the case herein. This is not the sentencing stage.

Lastly, the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial has also been violated in another way. The section at issue seeks to translate into fact

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000).

that the defendant committed these collateral crimes, but there is no requirement that the defendant actually be convicted of these other acts. The statute deprives the defendant of his right to a jury trial on each of these collateral acts in violation of the Sixth Amendment – which necessarily violates his right to a fair trial in the trial at issue.

# ARGUMENT III: THE APPLICATION OF SECTION 90.404(2)(b) IN THIS CASE VIOLATES THE PROVISION AGAINST APPLYING LAWS EX POST FACTO

There are four very general categories of ex post facto laws proscribed by the Florida and United States Constitutions: (1) laws that make conduct criminal that was not previously criminal, (2) laws that elevate the level of a criminal offense, (3) laws that increase the punishment for an offense, and (4) laws that alter the rules of evidence in a manner that permits a conviction with less or different testimony. See Carmell v. Texas, 529 U.S. 513, 120 S.Ct. 1620, 146 L.Ed.2d 577 (2000); Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988).

The fourth proscription has been violated in this case. The defendant's alleged criminal act took place on October 19, 2000. The statute at issue was

not enacted until July 1, 2001. See ch. 2001-221, § 1. The defendant's trial took place in November 2001. The statute should not have been used against the defendant because it had not yet been enacted when his alleged crime was committed.

This Court specifically stated in In re Amendments to the Florida

Evidence Code, 825 So.2d 339, 341 (Fla. 2002), that it was adopting this section only to the extent that it was procedural. This Court left open the question of whether this rule was procedural and expressly left open all of the other challenges to the statute in the absence of an actual case or controversy before it.

The section at issue altered the rules of evidence in such a manner that a conviction was made more likely with the introduction of this type of testimony – a type that had never been admissible before. The mode in which the facts are to be placed in front of the jury was qualitatively tipped in favor of the State alone.

The nature of this evidence reduces the State's burden to prove the case beyond a reasonable doubt because it is equally plausible that the jury will convict because the defendant is a bad guy, and not based upon the evidence on the charge at issue. Therefore, the State's burden of proof was

lessened with this rule.

Since the testimony now is essentially "less" and unequivocally "different," the rule violates ex post facto provisions. The rule reduces the quantum and quality of permissible evidence.

## ARGUMENT IV: THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE'S ENACTMENT OF THIS SECTION IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VIOLATIVE OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS

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