IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD MCLEAN,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC03-1732 Lower Tribunal No. 2D02-1322

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS BUREAU CHIEF-ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL TAMPA CRIMINAL APPEALS Florida Bar No. 0238538

JOHM M. KLAWIKOFSKY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0930997
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7900
Facsimile: (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

In <u>Carmell</u>, the United States Supreme Court held that the retroactive application of a Texas statute which allowed the state to secure a conviction based solely upon the child victim's testimony without any other evidence was unconstitutional. Since the Texas law affected the sufficiency of the evidence required to convict, as opposed to affecting the competency or admissibility of the evidence, the change resulted in less testimony to convict, which violated ex post facto.

However, the Supreme Court noted that ex post facto is not violated by procedural changes applied retrospectively that simply govern how certain evidence or testimony is admitted for consideration by the jury in determining guilt. Such procedural changes, the Court held, do not reduce the quantum of evidence necessary for a conviction, eliminate an element of the offense, increase the punishment, or lower the burden of proof. Thus, the Court concluded that rules of evidence are generally not implicated in ex post facto violations. State v. Dionne, 814 So. 2d 1087, 1092 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

In determining whether a rule of evidence implicates the prohibition against ex post facto laws, the key factor is whether it regulates "the mode in which the facts constituting guilt may be placed before the jury" or whether it is a sufficiency of the evidence rule which "governs the sufficiency

of those facts for meeting the burden of proof." Rules of evidence that fall into the former category may be applied retrospectively; rules that fit into the latter may not. Carmell, supra.

The Carmell court discussed the case of Hopt v. Territory of Utah, 110 U.S. 574, 4 S.Ct. 202, 28 L.Ed. 262 (1884), as a case that did not violate ex post facto. There, the defendant was tried for murder. At the time the defendant committed the murder, the law prohibited a convicted felon from testifying. After the murder, but prior to the defendant's trial, the law was changed to allow the testimony of convicted felons. the prosecutor attempted to admit the testimony of a convicted felon that tended to inculpate the defendant, the defendant objected, arguing that application of the new law violated the Ex Post Facto Clause. The Court rejected that argument and held that changes in the rules of evidence that are "regulations of the mode in which the facts constituting guilt may be placed before the jury, can be made applicable to prosecutions or trials thereafter had, without reference to the date of the commission of the offense charged." Id. at 589, 4 S.Ct. 202.

Thompson v. Missouri, 171 U.S. 380, 18 S.Ct. 922, 43 L.Ed. 204 (1898), also involved a change in the rules of evidence which did not have ex post facto implications. The case

involved the retrospective application of a law that allowed the testimony of a handwriting expert to be introduced into evidence when the law in existence at the time of the criminal act prohibited such testimony. Pursuant to Hopt, the Court rejected the defendant's ex post facto argument and held that the statute was a rule of evidence that governed the mode of presenting evidence to the jury.

In <u>Glendening v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988), this Court determined the retroactive application of child victim hearsay pursuant to section 90.803(23), Fla. Stat. (1985) did not violate ex post facto principles. Laws violate Ex Post facto where they affect the legal rules of evidence and receive less, or different testimony in order to convict the offender by "changing the ingredients of the offense or the ultimate facts necessary to establish guilt, whereas changes in the admission of evidence have been held to be procedural." This Court found the Ex Post Facto Clause was not violated and relied on the decisions in Hopt and Thompson:

The same reasoning which resulted in the Supreme Court's determination that the in Hopt and Thompson conclusion that procedural leads to the section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, also procedural and that the statute does not affect "substantial personal rights." As in Hopt, "the crime for which the present indicted, defendant was the punishment

prescribed therefor, and the quantity or the degree of proof necessary to establish his all remained unaffected by" the enactment of section 90.803(23). 110 U.S. at 589-90. As in Thompson, section 90.803(23) "left unimpaired the right of the jury to determine the sufficiency or effect of the evidence declared to be admissible, and did not disturb the fundamental rule that the state . . . must overcome the presumption of innocence, and establish his beyond a reasonable doubt." 171 U.S. at 387. Accordingly, we conclude that the district court below correctly held that application of section 90.803(23) in the present case does not violate the prohibition against ex post facto laws.

Glendening, 536 So. 2d at 215.

Here, the amendment to the <u>Williams</u> rule statute does not change the burden of proof or the sufficiency of the evidence. Rather, the legislature has attempted to clarify a dichotomy in collateral act evidence which has developed by allowing corroboration of the victim in the familial context, while still employing a strict standard of similarity in non-familial child molestation cases. See Morman, supra.

Petitioner argues that the law has altered the rules of evidence to permit a conviction with less or different testimony. Such is not the case because "a prima facie case of lewd molestation could be established by the testimony of the victim both before and after this amendment to the rule of evidence. This rule permits additional testimony that may cause

a jury to be more likely to believe the victim, but this is a qualitative change in the law that does not alter substantial personal rights." McLean, 584 So. 2d at 803. In Glendening, 536 So. 2d at 214 this Court rejected a similar ex post facto challenge to the hearsay exception for certain statements of child victims in Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1985). Here, Section 90.404(2)(b) provides for a more uniform admission of collateral act evidence which may corroborate the child Such admission is accompanied by a trial court's balancing relevancy and prejudice. Also, the trial court provides a limiting instruction for the jury to consider such evidence only as to corroboration. Further, the rules of evidence are still applicable to the instant case. The evidence must still be relevant, and not admitted solely for the purpose of showing propensity. Therefore, there is no ex post facto violation.

ISSUE IV

THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE'S ENACTMENT OF 90.404(2)(b) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VIOLATIVE OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS. (as restated by Respondent).

Petitioner claims Section 90.404(2)(b) violates the separation of powers doctrine. (ISSUE IV). Petitioner claims the legislature has impermissibly infringed upon the province of this Court. However, there is no separation of powers violation. Petitioner further claims the statute violates his right to equal protection since it is treating persons accused of child molestation differently than other persons accused of a crime. (ISSUE VI). Such claims are meritless. Section 90.404(2)(b) is not unconstitutional.

Here, there is no separation of powers violation. Courts do not impose on a duly-elected legislative body their own views regarding the wisdom of the legislation. State v. Ashley, 701 So. 2d 338, 343 (Fla. 1997)(stating: "the making of social policy is a matter within the purview of the legislature, not this Court"); Brown v. State, 672 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)(stating that it is the "Courts' duty to give effect to legislative enactment despite any personal opinions as to their wisdom or efficacy"). Instead, the reasonable relation test merely requires that the legislation be rationally related to a

legitimate governmental objective or purpose. <u>D.P. v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)(holding that a city ordinance prohibiting minors from possessing jumbo markers or spray paint did not violate federal or state constitutional due process clauses).

In the instant case, it was within the domain of the legislature to enact such rule of evidence in response to prior case law. There is a "strong presumption in favor of the constitutionality of statutes. It is well established that all doubt will be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of a statute. Bonvento v. Board of Public Instruction of Palm Beach County, 194 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1967). Although §90.404(2)(b) is a procedural rule, the statute was approved by this Court, to the extent that it was procedural. In re Amendments to the Florida Evidence Code, 825 So. 2d at 341. Moreover, it is an extension of this Court's prior holding in Rawls, and therefore there is no separation of powers violation. The legislature merely clarified apparent inconsistencies in case law involving collateral crime evidence. See Morman, supra.

Moreover, there is no equal protection violation. Petitioner's claim that the statute permits accused child molesters to be convicted of less evidence than other accused persons is without merit. In Daniels v. O'Connor, 243 So. 2d

144 (Fla. 1971), appeal dismissed sub nom., Daniels v. Hirshberg, 406 U.S. 902, 92 S. Ct. 1611, 31 L. Ed. 2d 813 (1972), this Court stated:

When the differences in treatment between those included and those excluded from the class bear a real and substantial relation to the purposes sought to be attained by the act, the classification is valid as against an attack under the equal protection clause.

... The equal protection clause demands only that the rights of all persons in a class must rest upon the same rule under similar circumstances....Cases are legion in which one class of persons urges denial of equal protection when they are required to do something another class is not. However, if all in the complaining class are treated alike, and the requirement they must meet bears reasonable relation to the object of the legislation, attack on the an legislation based upon denial of equal protection will generally fail.

limit Rather, the court must inquiry to whether there is a rational basis for the statutory classification...."[0]ur duty [is] to give effect to legislative enactments despite any personal opinions as to their wisdom or efficacy. No principle firmly more embedded constitutional system of separation of powers and checks and balances." Moore v. 343 So. 2d 601, 603-04 State, (Fla. 1977).See also *State v. Yu*, 400 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1981), appeal dismissed sub nom. Wall v. Florida, 454 U.S. 1134, 102 S. Ct. 988, 71 L. Ed. 2d 286 (1982). The rational basis test: is intended to permit the legislature to make most public policy decisions without interference from the courts. "This inquiry employs a relatively relaxed standard reflecting the Court's awareness that the drawing of lines that create distinctions is legislative peculiarly a task unavoidable one." [Massachusetts Board of Retirement v.] Murgia, 427 U.S. [307,] at 313, 96 S. Ct. [2562,] at 2567[, 49 L. Ed. 520 (1976)]. "[L]eqislative classifications are valid unless they bear no rational relationship to the State's objectives." Washington v. Confederated Bands & Tribes of the Yakima Indian Nation, 439 U.S. 463, 501, 99 S. Ct. 740, 762, 58 L. Ed. 2d 740[, 768] (1979). A classification is not unconstitutional merely because it is imperfect. Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 90 S. Ct. 1153, 25 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1970)."Put another way, a statutory classification such as this should not be overturned 'unless the varying treatment of different groups or persons is so unrelated to the achievement of any combination of legitimate purposes that we can only conclude that the legislature's actions were irrational.'" Barry v. Barchi, 443 U.S. 55, 67, 99 S. Ct. 2642, 2650, 61 L. Ed. 2d 365 (1979) (quoting Vance v. Bradley, 440 U.S. 93, 97, 99 S. Ct. 939, 943, 59 L. Ed. 2d 171 (1979))....

Here, the statute does not treat sex offenders differently than others charged with crimes. Rather it attempts to treat accused child molesters uniformly by providing a rule of evidence which can be applied consistently and relevantly. Section 90.404((2)(b) does not violate separation of powers and equal protection. Rather, it promotes a rule of evidence which instructs trial courts how to properly admit collateral act evidence, and minimizes inconsistent application of this rule.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY UTILZING THE SECTION AT ISSUE BEFORE IT WAS FORMALLY APPROVED BY THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT. (as restated by Respondent).

This Court adopted the statutory amendment in Section 90.404(2) to the extent they were procedural. See <u>In Re</u>

<u>Amendments to the Florida Evidence Code</u>, 825 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 2002).

Here, Petitioner claims the trial court erred in using Section 90.4040(2)(b) prior to it being approved by this Court. This issue was addressed by the Second District in <u>McLean</u>, 854 So. 2d at 804, n.7.:

n7 We note that the supreme court adopted this rule and other rules in July 2002 but indicated that they became effective "on the dates they became law." In re Amendments to the Florida Evidence Code, 825 So. 341... Apparently, the supreme court intends to allow trial courts to utilize a rule of evidence during the period between its legislative enactment and its adoption by supreme court if the trial determines that the new rule of evidence is procedural and does not violate the post prohibition against ex facto application. Obviously, the trial court uses the new rule at the risk that it may later be disapproved by the supreme court. See, e.g., Jones v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 830 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

Since this Court approved the rule, this issue has no

merit. See also <u>Crumbley v. State</u>, 876 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004)(when Florida Supreme Court adopts previously enacted amendment to the evidence code that is procedural, it usually specifies that the effective date of the rule is the date the Legislature designated as the effective date of the enactment.

ISSUE VI

SECTION 90.404(2)(b) DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION. (As restated by Respondent).

This issue is addressed in Issue IV of this Brief.

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED SECTION 90.403.(as Restated by Respondent).

Petitioner claims the trial court erred in its application of Section 90.403, Fla. Stat. (2001). He argues that the testimony of Mr. Chambers' was unduly prejudicial in light of Section 90.403. Here, Mr. Chambers' testimony was proffered before the trial court. The court weighed the probative value against its prejudicial effect. As the prosecutor pointed out to the court, the Senate analysis of the new bill stated "that no matter how relaxed the rule may be, the evidence would still be subject to 90.403 scrutiny of laying its probative value against its prejudicial effect. (V. 2: T. 171).

The court determined that allowing all of William Chamber's proffered testimony into evidence would be unduly prejudicial.

(V. 2: T. 199). The court allowed the testimony as to the incidents that occurred in the family home. The court excluded the incidents that occurred at Appellant's residence, a camping trip, and anything outside of the family home. The court further did "not allow any testimony as to confrontation, admissions of guilt, statements by the defendant that he needed help or treatment." (V. 2: T. 200).

"A trial court has wide discretion concerning the

admissibility of evidence, and a ruling on admissibility will not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion."

Huhn, supra. "Any testimony relevant to prove the fact in issue is admissible unless precluded by some specific rule of exclusion." McCrae v. State, 395 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1980);

Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959). Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the collateral act testimony of Mr. Chambers.

Further, Appellant did not timely renew his objection and has not preserved this issue for appeal. (V. 3, T. 354). Feller v. State, 637 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1994) (defense counsel failed to raise objection when collateral crime evidence was introduced at trial and did not preserve issue for appeal).

Mr. Chambers' trial testimony was limited. Appellant would sometimes spend the night at the Chambers house. On several occasions he would press up against him, wearing nothing at all. He also tried to anally penetrate him. (V. 3: T. 357). Mr. Chambers was between the ages of 12-14 at the time of the events. (V. 3: T. 358).

Here, the trial court limited much of the collateral act testimony. He only admitted that evidence relating to incidents which occurred inside the family residence where Petitioner was an overnight guest. Petitioner claims the Second District

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